Received Washington State Supreme Court

JUN 20 2014

Ronald R. Carpenter

Clerk

No.: 90394-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRUCE PLEASANT AND KIMBERLY PLEASANT, a marital community,

Appellants,

vs.

REGENCE BLUESHIELD, a Washington Corporation,

Respondent.

APPELLANTS BRUCE AND KIMBERLY PLEASANTS' **AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Rick J Wathen, WSBA #25539 Kimberly Larsen Rider, #42736 Attorneys for Appellants

Cole I Wathen I Leid I Hall

303 Battery Street Seattle, WA 98121-1419 206.622.0494 206.587.2476

III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW			
IV.	STAT	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	Background Facts	2	
	B.	Mr. Pleasant Received Non-Rehabilitative Care Services	2	
	C.	The Policy of Insurance	5	
	D.	Regence Denied the Costs Associated with Mr. Pleasant's Mechanical Embolectomy Procedure	7	
	E.	Procedural History	.10	
V.	ARGUMENT11			
	A.	The Petition for Review Involves a Substantial Public Interest that the Supreme Court Should Address	12	
	B.	Neither a Patient's Geographical Location within a Hospital nor the Reason for the Admission should Preclude Coverage for Reasonable ar Necessary Medical Expenses		
	C.	If a Procedure is Deemed "Experimental" and Subject to Denial, the Exclusion for the Procedure Must be Set Forth in the Policy of Insurance or Solidly Backed Up by the Generally Accepted Medical Community		
VI.	CONCLUSION1			
ΔΡΡΕ	NDIX .	Δ		

TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

OTHER STATE CASES

National Family Care Life Ins. Co. v. Kuykandall, 705 SW 2d 267 (1986)16, 17		
Dobias v. Service Life Insurance Company of Omaha, 469 N.W.2d 143 (1991)17		
RULES AND STATUES		
RAP 13.4(b)(4)12		

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS

Bruce and Kimberly Pleasant are the underlying plaintiffs in this action and appellant at the Court of Appeals.

II. CITATION OF COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Pleasants seek review of the Court of Appeals (Division One) decision: Cause No. 691431- I.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This dispute presents an issue of first impression in the State of Washington.

- 1. Does a health insurance policy which limits the amount of coverage for "rehabilitative care" also preclude coverage for all non-rehabilitative care which would otherwise be covered under the policy of insurance?
- 2. Does a policy of insurance which discourages reasonable and medically necessary treatment violate the public policy of the State of Washington?
- 3. Are the Pleasants entitled to a judicial review of whether or not a mechanical embolechtomy is experimental?
- Mr. Pleasant received reasonable and necessary medical treatment for rehabilitative care following a severe stroke. While admitted to the Swedish hospital he received rehabilitative care for

which there is a policy cap on coverage. However, he also received medical care wholly unrelated to rehabilitative care. Regence denied coverage asserting that the rehabilitative care cap on coverage applied to *ALL* medical expenses regardless of whether or not they were related to rehabilitative care or not.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background Facts.

This lawsuit arises out of Regence Blue Shield's denial of insurance benefits. CP 11. In March of 2010, Mr. Pleasant underwent a seemingly routine procedure to repair his damaged knee. CP 11-12. However, during the course of that procedure, Mr. Pleasant suffered a stroke which caused severe debilitating injuries. CP 12:2-3.

B. Mr. Pleasant Received Non-Rehabilitative Care Services.

A cursory review of the billing statements and medical records reveal that Mr. Pleasant received treatment which is not inpatient rehabilitative services as defined by the policy of insurance. CP 11. For example, Mr. Pleasant received the medication called Enoxaparin. Enoxaparin is an anti-coagulant used to prevent and treat pulmonary embolisms (the effects of stroke.) CP 113. Mr.

Pleasant received Latanoprost which is a topical ophthalmic solution used to reduce pressure inside the eye. See CP 97. Mr. Pleasant received numerous blood draws, laboratory tests, etc. related to monitoring his blood and recovery from the stroke. CP 105.

Mr. Pleasant received a CT scan as part of the procedure to remove and replace a blood filter. CP 105, CP 107. Again, this procedure had nothing to do whatsoever with rehabilitative care as defined under the policy of insurance.

Mr. Pleasant received Visipaque injections which are radiographic contrast mediums used to enhance x-ray imaging. CP 102. CP 115-116. Regence has denied these claims apparently contending that x-rays are rehabilitative services. Regence has also denied the expenses associated with the nearly 20 blood draws and associated lab work of Mr. Pleasant's blood, apparently on the basis that these blood draws constitute rehabilitative services as well.

Mr. Pleasant was treated by Dr. David R. Clawson. These included medication, laboratory work and a CT scan. Additionally, Mr. Pleasant underwent a procedure to remove and replace a blood filter. These medications and treatments were related to Mr.

Pleasant's stroke. These treatments were medically necessary regardless of whether or not Mr. Pleasant was receiving treatment for physical therapy, speech therapy and occupational therapy. CP 125-126.

Regence paid for these same types of medications and procedures during Mr. Pleasant's initial hospitalization and denied later.

	PAID	DENIED
1.	Swedish Medical Center	Swedish Medical Center
2.	Filter Replacement	Filter Replacement
	Treatment rendered on	Treatment rendered on
	3/26/10; CP 594	5/24/10; CP 106
3.	CT Scan	CT Scan
	Treatment rendered 3/2010-4/2010; CP 597	Treatment rendered 5/22/10 CP 107
4.	Draw Fees	Draw Fees
	Treatment rendered 3/21/10-4/5/10; CP 595	Treatment rendered 5/6/10-5/31/10; CP 106
5.	Latanoprost – Medication	Latanoprost - Medication
	Treatment rendered	Treatment rendered 5/5/10
	3/19/10; CP 586	- relieves pressure in the eye CP 97
6.	Contrast Visipaque –	Contrast Visipaque -
	Medication	Medication
	Treatment rendered 3/18/10; CP 585	Treatment rendered 5/24/10 - x-ray medium; CP 103
7.	Docusate – Medication	Docusate – Medication
' '	Treatment rendered	Treatment rendered 5/25/10
	3/26/10; CP 588	- stool softener; CP 103
8.	Gabapentin - Medication	Gabapentin - Medication
	Treatment rendered	Treatment rendered 5/23/10
	3/24/10; CP 588	- pain meds/anti-convulsion;
		CP 102
9.	Simvastatin – Medication	Simvastatin – Medication

Treatment rendered 3/24/10; CP 588	Treatment rendered 5/22/10 - Statin: lowers cholesterol;
	CP 102

C. The Policy of Insurance.

The policy of insurance is organized in such a way that it is broken down into various articles numbered as Articles 1-8. CP 166. Rather than first setting forth the grant of coverage followed by the exclusions, the Regence Policy addresses what is excluded before addressing what is covered. *Id.*

With this in mind, Article 8 of the policy of insurance provides in part:

ARTICLE 8 BENEFITS

- 8.2 BENEFIT PROVISIONS. The Benefits of this Article for Medically Necessary services, will be provided at the payment levels specified in the Payment Schedule in the *Guide to Using Your Benefits*, subject to all limitations, exclusions, and provisions of this Contract.
- 8.5 COVERED BENEFITS. The Benefits described in this Article will be provided at the payment level specified in the Payment Schedule in the *Guide to Using Your Benefits*. All Benefits are subject to the preadmission approval provision described in this Article, and to all conditions and limitations stated in the Benefit sections below or elsewhere in this Contract, as determined by the Company. All services and supplies must be Medically Necessary as defined in Article 1, except as provided in this Article for preventive care services.
- 8.6 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. The services of a provider who is not a facility that provides Inpatient

services, will be provided for the diagnosis and treatment of illness, accidental injury, or physical disability including x-ray and laboratory, surgery, second opinions, injectable drugs for covered conditions in the office, home, Hospital, or skilled nursing facility, and for covered services for women's health to include gynecological care and general exams as medically appropriate and medically appropriate follow-up visits.

- 8.7 HOSPITAL FACILITY.
- 8.7.1 INPATIENT BENEFITS. When the Member is confined as an Inpatient, Benefits will be provided for services and supplies provided by a Hospital. Room and board is limited to the Hospital's average semiprivate room rate, except where a private room is determined to be Medically Necessary.

See, CP 73-76.

Article 1 of the Policy sets forth the pertinent definitions:

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS

- 1.12 HOSPITAL. An accredited general Hospital that is a provider covered under this Contract.
- 1.13 INPATIENT. A person confined overnight in a Hospital or other facility as a regularly admitted bed patient to whom a charge for room and board is made in accordance with the Hospital's or facility's standard practice.
- 1.14 INPATIENT REHABILITATION ADMISSION. An inpatient admission to a Company approved facility specifically for the purpose of receiving speech, physical, or occupational therapy in an inpatient setting.

See, CP 34-36.

The limitations and exclusions are found in Article 6. The policy provides in part:

ARTICLE 6 LIMITATIONS AND EXCLUSIONS; WAITING PERIODS

6.1.11 Drugs, except as follows:

- Drugs will be provided for the Inpatient who is receiving the Benefits of this Contract for that confinement, unless otherwise excluded under this Contract.
- 6.1.24 Services and supplies that are not Medically Necessary for treatment of an illness, injury, or physical disability, including routine physical and hearing exams and related x-ray and laboratory, except as specified in Article 8.
- 6.1.34 Treatment for rehabilitative care, including speech therapy, physical therapy, or occupational therapy, except as specified in the Home Health, Hospice, and Rehabilitation Benefits of Article 8.

CP 64-67.

D. Regence Denied the Costs Associated with Mr. Pleasant's Mechanical Embolectomy Procedure.

As noted above, Mr. Pleasant received a mechanical embolectomy¹ in treatment for his stroke in order to restore the flow

¹ A mechanical embolectomy involves a mirco-catheter being placed in the blood vessel and being directed to the area of the blood clot. CP 605:10-17. At the end of the device, there is a helical coil which is used to grasp the obstruction, allowing for the obstruction to be pulled back out through the blood vessel, thus restoring blood flow to the area affected by the stroke. *Id.*

of blood to Mr. Pleasant's brain. CP 125-126, ¶2-5; see also, CP 605:18.

The treatment was *medically necessary* following Mr.

Pleasant's March 2010 stroke as determined by his treating medical providers:

Mr. Pleasant received treatment while at the rehabilitation center. He received certain treatment which was medically necessary regardless of the setting in which he received the treatment. Examples include medication, laboratory work, and a CT scan. Additionally, Mr. Pleasant underwent a procedure to remove and replace a blood filter. Again, these are treatments Mr. Pleasant received related to his stroke. The procedures, lab work and medicines needed regardless of Pleasant's setting. In other words, Mr. Pleasant would have needed these treatments whether or not he had been admitted for in-patient rehabilitative services.

CP 125-126: ¶5 (emphasis added).

Regence's denial of the mechanical embolectomy procedure was based, in part, upon a medical policy (which was identified after the close of discovery) which was drafted by a medical policy clinician. A medical policy clinician is not a doctor but "either a nurse or has some other advanced training, like an MPH." CP 1549:5-13. This medical policy is not part of the policy of insurance.

Regence's own reviewing neurosurgeon, Dr. Maurice Collada, strongly asserts that denial of a mechanical embolectomy procedure is "unwise, inappropriate, indefensible." Dr. Collada states:

Folks to suggest that a technique that reconstitutes the blood vlagus mechanically to areas of the brain compromised due to blocked a intracerebral vessel should not be done. or should not be funded is unwise, inappropriate, indefensible. studies are already fairly strong. presume you would not refuse payment in an effort to reconstitute the flow in an occluded carotid artery by way of an endarterectomy, and yet the double blinded studies in that area are also lacking. I think that this is like asking to get more convincing double blinded studies before you jump out of a crashing airplane with a parachute. I would urge a rethinking of this policy.

CP 1564 (emphasis added).

A year later, during another review, Dr. Collada again renewed his position, calling Regence's denial of mechanical embolectomy treatments "preposterous" and "unconscionable":

I totally disagree with the decision to make this experimental, and not have this as an option in stroke management. I do think clear criteria, and timelines exist. I also understand why the double blind studies have been so difficult since it would be *unconscionable* to do a

double blind study just as it would be unconscionable to do a double blind study in the use of parachutes when jumping out of airplanes. Once you do have timelines, and criteria in place that you can study, and track, realizing reconstituting the cerebral blood flow is the goal, then it is preposterous to keep this outside of our armamentarium. Not having this option would hinder stroke management substantially, and be a disservice to your clients.

CP 1565 (emphasis added).

Regence denied the mechanical embolectomy procedure on an unexplained determination that the procedure was "investigational." CP 605:19 and CP 685-686. The procedure has received FDA approval by Medicaid/Medicare. CP 1532-36. CP 688-691.

E. Procedural History.

Following the expiration of the discovery deadlines, the Pleasants moved for Summary Judgment on the issue of the mechanical embolectomy. CP 604-610. The Pleasants argued that the burden of proof for establishing exclusionary provisions in the policy of insurance rested upon the insurer. CP 607-608. In response, Regence offered the Declaration of Richard Rainey, M.D. CP 789-791 and 799-800. Dr. Rainey had never previously been identified as a witness, let alone a testifying expert. CP 1199:1-16.

Nevertheless, and over the objection of the Pleasants, the

trial court accepted the Declaration of Dr. Rainey. RP 25:9-12. The trial court ruled that Regence had followed the "procedure" for determining that the mechanical embolectomy procedure was "investigational" but neglected to analyze whether or not the procedure was in *fact* investigational. RP 16: 17-21, 18:2-7, 19:13-20, 23:4-23 and 24:20-25. The trial court summarily dismissed the remaining causes of action asserted by the Pleasants. RP 25:5-8.

٠,

V. ARGUMENT

Mr. Pleasant suffered a massive stroke which required immediate and intensive medical care. Mr. Pleasant treated at Swedish Medical Center for the stroke. After treatment at the hospital, Mr. Pleasant continued to require medical care for conditions caused by the stroke. In addition to that, Mr. Pleasant required rehabilitative services. As soon as Mr. Pleasant started rehabilitative care, Regence cutoff payment for medical expenses that had nothing to do with rehabilitation. Regence did this because the policy limit for rehabilitative care was only \$4,000. After paying the \$4,000.00 policy limit for rehabilitative care, Regence denied tens of thousands of dollars of medical care caused by the stroke which had nothing to do with rehabilitative care.

A. The Petition for Review Involves a Substantial Public Interest that the Supreme Court Should Address.

RAP 13.4 (b)(4) provides that the Supreme Court may accept a petition for review "[I]f the Petition involves a substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

The very basic concept of health insurance becomes illusory when an insurer is able to limit coverage through the use of an cap on rehabilitative care to deny other reasonable and necessary medical treatments. In this case, Regence has denied payment for non-rehabilitative care medical services by arguing that the cap on "rehabilitative care" applies to all other reasonable and necessary medical treatment merely because a patient is initially admitted to a hospital for rehabilitative care. Such a position contravenes public policy, contravenes an insured's reasonable expectations to coverage and only serves to discourage medical treatment while punishing those who do.

B. Neither a Patient's Geographical Location within a Hospital nor the Reason for the Admission should Preclude Coverage for Reasonable and Necessary Medical Expenses.

It is important to note that Mr. and Mrs. Pleasant have never asserted that he was not admitted to the Swedish Hospital for purposes of receiving rehabilitative care. Mr. and Mrs. Pleasant

have likewise never asserted that the rehabilitative care limit does not apply to rehabilitative care. Mr. and Mrs. Pleasant have also never asserted that they weren't advised that there was a cap on rehabilitative care.

The argument which has been presented by Mr. and Mrs.

Pleasant is that they are entitled to healthcare coverage for all nonrehabilitative care which is ordinarily covered under the policy of
insurance.

As set forth above, Mr. Pleasant received both rehabilitative care and non-rehabilitative care while he was admitted at the Swedish Hospital. There has been no dispute presented by Regence indicating that the treatments and medications set forth in the chart at page 5 are rehabilitative care as defined under the policy of insurance. Regence has simply taken the position that once a patient is admitted to the hospital for rehabilitative care, the maximum coverage for all medical treatment is capped regardless of the nature of that medical treatment, the need for that medical treatment separate or from any considerations of a commonsense reading of the policy of insurance.

The fallacy of Regence's arguments is quickly exposed when one considers simple hypotheticals related to their coverage

position. For example, if a patient who is in a rehabilitative care facility were to receive an unrelated traumatic injury while an inpatient, the total medical coverage would be limited to \$4,000.00. An example would include if an inpatient tripped and fell and sustained a traumatic brain injury. Given the severity of the injury, the healthcare providers choose to treat the patient where the injury occurred within the hospital i.e., on the fifth floor as opposed to transporting the patient to the ER. If this court were to adopt Regence arguments, this would mean that the otherwise covered expenses related to treatment of a traumatic brain injury would somehow be subject to a \$4,000.00 cap merely because the patient was originally admitted for inpatient rehabilitative purposes.

Regence's argument in this regard contravenes public policy and quite frankly, common sense. In order to secure coverage, Regence would advocate that the inpatient traumatic brain injury patient, or as in Mr. Pleasant's situation, stroke victim, would be required to be discharged from "inpatient rehabilitative" care. And then be readmitted to the exact same facility for "acute critical care" in order to secure insurance coverage. Such an argument contravenes the clear public policy of creating *affordable*

healthcare while needlessly driving up the administrative expenses associated with healthcare.

Mr. Pleasant's predicament illustrates this point. There has been no dispute that Mr. Pleasant needed a blood filter in order to treat him for the acute stroke. Likewise, there has been no dispute that replacement of the filter is a reasonable and necessary medical expense as part of that ongoing treatment. And finally, there has been no dispute that absent his admission for "inpatient rehabilitative care", he would ordinarily have received insurance coverage for the replacement of the blood filter. However, Regence has taken the position that because he was already at Swedish Hospital and already admitted as an inpatient for rehabilitative care, he is not entitled to coverage for the replacement of the blood filter. According to Regence's logic, Mr. Pleasant, on the date needed for the replacement of his blood filter, should have discharged himself from the inpatient rehabilitative floor of the Swedish Hospital, readmitted himself to another floor on the Swedish Hospital, had the doctor replace the blood filter, then discharge himself from that floor of the Swedish Hospital and readmit himself back onto the inpatient floor of the same hospital. The logistical absurdity of this argument is readily apparent.

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