RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jul 21, 2014, 4:52 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

No. 90394-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRUCE PLEASANT AND KIMBERLY PLEASANT, a marital community,

Appellants,

٧.

REGENCE BLUESHIELD, a Washington Corporation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stephania Camp Denton WSBA No. 21920 LANE POWELL PC Attorneys for Regence BlueShield

Lane Powell PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 Seattle, Washington 98111 Telephone: (206) 223-7000 Facsimile: (206) 223-7107

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

CP 209, 221 (emphasis supplied for defined terms).

The plan excludes coverage for "Investigational Services or Supplies, as defined in Article 1." CP 199, ¶ 6.1.17. "Investigational Services or Supplies" are services or supplies that are classified as such either by the national Blue Cross Blue Shield Association or by Regence, using five specifically identified criteria:

² An "Inpatient" is defined as: "A person confined to overnight in a Hospital or other facility as a regularly admitted bed patient to whom a charge for room and board is made in accordance with the Hospital's or facility's standard practice." CP 168, ¶ 1.13.

- SECTION 1.15 INVESTIGATIONAL SERTICE OR SUPPLY.
 A service or supply ... that is determined by the
 Company to meet any one of the following:
 - 1.15.1 Any service or supply classified as experimental and/or investigational by the national Blue Cross Blue Shield Association ... as adopted by the Company. The national Blue Cross Blue Shield Association's determination is based on the following criteria:
 - a. The scientific evidence must permit conclusions concerning the effect of the technology on health outcomes (which means significant measurable improvement in length of life, ability to function, or quality of life);
 - b. The technology must improve the net health outcome (as defined above);
 - c. The technology must be as beneficial as any established alternatives:
 - d. The improvement must be attainable outside the laboratory or clinical research setting; and
 - e. Items must have been approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) as being safe and efficacious for general marketing, and permission must have been granted by the FDA for commercial distribution; or
 - 1.15.2 Any service or supply classified as experimental or investigational by the Company. The Company's determination is based on the criteria specified under Paragraph 1.15.1

CP 169.

In addition, the plan excludes "[t]reatment for rehabilitative care, including speech therapy, physical therapy, or occupational therapy, except as specified in the Home Health, Hospice, and Rehabilitation Benefits of Article 8." CP 200, ¶ 6.1.34 (emphasis added). Article 8 provides limited coverage for an inpatient rehabilitation admission as follows:

- SECTION 8.29 REHABILITATION. The Benefits described below will be provided when Medically Necessary to restore and improve function that was previously normal but lost following a documented injury or illness:
 - 8.29.1 INPATIENT. The Professional, Inpatient Hospital, and Skilled Nursing Facility Benefits of this Article will be provided to an Inpatient for an Inpatient Rehabilitation Admission for physical therapy, speech therapy, and occupational therapy, to a maximum of \$4,000 per Year.

CP 220.

An "Inpatient Rehabilitation Admission" is defined as: "An inpatient admission to a Company approved facility specifically for the purpose of receiving speech, physical, or occupational therapy in an inpatient setting." CP 169, ¶ 1.14.

B. Pleasant's Medical History.

1. <u>Inpatient Hospital Admission to Swedish Medical</u> Center (3/18/10 to 4/5/10).

On March 18, 2010, while or shortly after undergoing knee surgery, Bruce Pleasant suffered a stroke, for which he received extensive medical care. He was admitted to Swedish Medical Center as a regularly admitted patient, where he received inpatient medical care for approximately three weeks to stabilize his condition. CP 229-30.

During Pleasant's hospitalization, Pleasant and his family discussed with Pleasant's caregivers options for Pleasant's continuing treatment following his discharge from the hospital and how to optimize use of the various benefits available to him under his Regence plan. CP 240. The various options included admission to a rehabilitation unit, admission to a skilled nursing facility, or a combination of the two. *Id.* After having specific conversations with Regence about the fact that the plan provided a limited benefit of \$4,000 for inpatient rehabilitation, CP 232-35, 240, Pleasant decided to first enter a skilled nursing facility, then transfer to a rehabilitation facility. Pleasant recognized that this option would allow him to maximize both his 30-day skilled nursing facility benefit and the \$4,000 benefit for inpatient rehabilitation. CP 245 (recommending that Pleasant "use at least 3-4 weeks of that [SNF³] benefit prior to paying privately for ARU⁴"); see also CP 247 (Swedish

³ SNF means Skilled Nursing Facility.

⁴ ARU means Acute Rehabilitation Unit.

Care Manager noting Pleasant will "utilize SNF benefit first" then "pay privately at ARU when ARU benefit has been exhausted").

2. Admission to Skilled Nursing Facility (4/5/10 to 5/5/10).

Accordingly, on April 5, 2010, Pleasant transferred to a skilled nursing facility, where he stayed for 30 days.

3. <u>Inpatient Rehabilitation Admission to Swedish Cherry</u> <u>Hill's Inpatient Acute Rehabilitation Unit (5/5/10 to 5/31/10).</u>

On May 5, 2010, with full knowledge of his limited inpatient rehabilitation benefit and having made private pay arrangements, Pleasant was admitted to Swedish Cherry Hill's Inpatient Acute Rehabilitation Unit. Pleasant's admitting provider, Dr. Clawson, is a physician specializing in rehabilitation. CP 257. Pleasant was pre-authorized by Swedish Cherry Hill for admission to the Rehabilitation Unit,⁵ and his admission record confirms this was an "elective" admission for the sole

⁵ Rehabilitation Units have preadmission screening procedures to evaluate and determine a patient's eligibility for inpatient admission, which require that the patient have suffered a new or recent onset of certain medical conditions (including a stroke), be "medically stable and show evidence of physical and cognitive readiness to participate in the rehabilitation program," and be "willing and capable" of participating in the program for at least three hours daily. WAC 182-550-2551; 182-550-2561. Accordingly, in order to qualify Pleasant for benefits, Swedish Cherry Hill completed an Inpatient Rehabilitation Facility – Patient Assessment Instrument ("IRF-PAI") for him on May 5, 2010. CP 254-56. The IRF-PAI is also used to determine the facility's reimbursement.

purpose of receiving rehabilitative care.⁶ Pleasant received intensive physical, occupational, and speech therapy every day during his rehabilitation admission. CP 257-493. Although he was not admitted as a regular patient hospitalized because of a need for medical care, as would be expected due to his previous stroke, Pleasant also received medical services and drugs during his inpatient rehabilitation admission.⁷ He was discharged to his home on May 31, 2010. CP 493.

C. Regence's Coverage Determinations.

Regence provided full coverage for Pleasant's inpatient hospital admission in March 2010, for which Swedish charged approximately \$250,000.8 CP 585-600. Regence also fully covered Pleasant's 30-day stay at the skilled nursing facility. CP 236. In this case, Pleasant contests only Regence's coverage determinations for a mechanical embolectomy procedure and for his inpatient rehabilitation admission.

⁶ The "Primary Service" is identified as "Rehab" and "Secondary Service" is identified as "None." CP 257; see also CP 259 (Swedish discharge summary stating reason for ARU admission: "Admitted for rehabilitation for deficits related to Right MCA embolic CVA related to patent foramen ovale following knee surgery.").

⁷ Every rehabilitation patient must have an underlying medical illness or injury in order to qualify for rehabilitative care, and thus every rehabilitation patient has medical needs. WAC 182-550-2551; WAC 182-550-2561. In order to be admitted for rehabilitation, however, the patient's medical condition must be "medically stable." *Id.* Thus, by definition, an inpatient rehabilitation patient has a medical condition but does not need to be hospitalized for his or her condition.

All of the hospital's charges for Pleasant's inpatient stay as a "regularly admitted bed patient" were covered under the inpatient hospital benefit of Pleasant's plan. CP 168, 209. This coverage included incidental rehabilitation services provided during his hospital admission, which were not applied to the limited benefit for an Inpatient Rehabilitation Admission, since Pleasant was not hospitalized "for the purpose of receiving ... therapy"). CP 168-69, 209.

1. Mechanical Embolectomy Procedure.

One of the many medical procedures Pleasant received on the day of his stroke is called "mechanical embolectomy." Both Regence and the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association classify mechanical embolectomy as an investigational procedure when used for the treatment of acute ischemic stroke. CP 789-96. As detailed in the medical literature cited in Regence's Medical Policy, studies and medical trials conducted to date on the use of mechanical embolectomy for stroke patients are inconclusive on whether the procedure is safe, effective, or preferable to alternative treatments. Id. Regence's Medical Policy also relies in part on the American Heart Association's opinion that the usefulness and effectiveness of mechanical embolectomy devices is "uncertain," and "the utility of the device in improving outcomes after stroke remains unclear." Id. In addition to the American Heart Association, the American Journal of Radiology, studies funded by the United States Department of Health and Human Services, and numerous other public and private health

⁹ Regence's Medical Policy, including citations to the medical publications and studies that are cited in the policy, is published for the public at http://blue.regence.com/trgmedpol/surgery/sur158.html (last accessed 6/15/12).

carriers agree that the safety and efficacy of mechanical embolectomy for the treatment of acute ischemic stroke is unproven.¹¹ See infra, pp. 18-19.

In accordance with Pleasant's plan, Regence denied coverage for the physician's charge of \$415 to perform a mechanical embolectomy procedure. Regence sent an Explanation of Benefits ("EOB") informing Pleasant of the basis for denial of the charge. CP 1192 (EOB stating "investigational or experimental services and supplies are not covered"). The EOB also described the procedure to appeal the denial and offered "a free explanation of our scientific or clinical judgment, applying the terms of the plan to your medical circumstances, is available upon request." *Id.* Regence followed up with a letter to Pleasant repeating the basis for the claim denial and providing the specific URL for the publication of Regence's Medical Policy on mechanical embolectomy. CP 1305-08. 12

2. Inpatient Rehabilitation Admission.

Pleasant's May 5, 2010, admission to Swedish Cherry Hill's Rehabilitation Unit qualified as an Inpatient Rehabilitation Admission under the contract, defined as an admission "specifically for the purpose of receiving speech, physical, or occupational therapy in an inpatient

¹¹ Pleasant's representation that "Regence's own reviewing neurosurgeon, Dr. Maurice Collada" disagreed with the Medical Policy on mechanical embolectomy is false and misstates the record. See Appellants' Amended Petition for Review, p. 11. Dr. Collada is not and never has been an employee or agent of Regence. CP 1552 (28:18-24). His comments were received by Regence in response to the company's practice of soliciting public comments on draft policies, and they merely reflect that one doctor out of the thousands in this state disagrees with the Medical Policy. Id.

¹² Pleasant's contention that the denial was "unexplained" clearly is inaccurate. See Appellants' Amended Petition for Review, p. 10.

setting." CP 169, ¶ 1.14. The "admitting diagnosis" is "the medical condition responsible for a hospital admission, as defined by ICD-9-M diagnostic code." WAC 182-531-0050. Pleasant's "admitting diagnosis" was "rehabilitation procedure" (coded as V57.89). CP 494.

In the health care industry, inpatient rehabilitation admissions are paid differently than and separately from inpatient hospital admissions.¹³ Swedish Cherry Hill's Rehabilitation Unit, which is separate from the hospital facility, submitted an invoice for Pleasant's inpatient rehabilitation admission.¹⁴ Regence paid benefits for the inpatient rehabilitation admission up to the contract's limit of \$4,000. CP 220, ¶ 8.29.1.

Pleasant was fully informed in advance that his Regence plan would provide a limited benefit of \$4,000 for the admission. CP 238 (confirming on 3/24/10: "Your benefits for your stay on the inpatient rehabilitation unit are: Covered at 80%. Limit \$4,000 per 12 months.").

¹³ The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS") has established various Prospective Payment Systems (or "PPSs") as methods to reimburse medical services. CP 500-01. Separate PPSs apply for reimbursement to acute inpatient hospitals, hospice, hospital outpatient, inpatient psychiatric facilities, inpatient rehabilitation facilities, and skilled nursing facilities; and facilities are prohibited from billing one patient under different categories for the same admission. *Id.*; see also WAC 182-550-2598(14)(b) (noting that the Washington Health Department "uses the per diem payment method to pay for services provided in ... distinct rehabilitation units").

¹⁴ In accordance with federal regulations, Swedish Cherry Hill bills its 36-bed rehabilitation unit separately from its 385-bed acute care hospital. CP 503; see 42 CFR §412.105(b) (excluding beds located in a hospital's rehabilitation unit from the number of beds used to calculate hospital inpatient reimbursement amount). The invoice for Pleasant's inpatient rehabilitation admission invoice uses NPI number 1427103589, which is the NPI number for Swedish's Rehabilitation Unit. CP 494, 496. (An NPI number is a "unique identifier for health care providers" established by CMS. CP 495.) Swedish's general acute care hospital operates under a different NPI number. CP 498.

D. Procedural History.

Pleasant filed the instant action on February 9, 2011, based on Regence's enforcement of the plan's \$4,000 limit on an inpatient rehabilitation admission. The parties agreed the facts of the case were undisputed and cross-moved for summary judgment. Pleasant argued the limitation should not apply because his May 2010 admission was not actually an "inpatient rehabilitation admission" as defined by the plan. 15 CP 11-19. Regence pointed out that based on Pleasant's medical records, he was admitted to the Rehabilitation Unit for the purpose of receiving rehabilitative therapy and, therefore, his admission was an "inpatient rehabilitation admission" as defined by the plan. CP 1682-1700. Following two separate days of oral argument, the Honorable Mary Yu denied Pleasant's motion for summary judgment and granted summary judgment to Regence, finding that Regence properly enforced the terms of Pleasant's heath care plan limiting benefits for an "inpatient rehabilitation admission" to \$4,000 per year. CP 602-03; CP 1707-09.

However, Judge Yu also permitted the Pleasants to assert a new claim based on Regence's denial of the \$415 charge for a mechanical embolectomy procedure performed on March 18, 2010. CP 1707-09. On subsequent cross-motions for summary judgment on this claim, Judge Yu

¹⁵ Pleasant argued that the benefit limitation is unenforceable under Washington public policy but, as recognized by the Court of Appeals, he failed to address the argument in his briefing and provided no authority to support the argument; accordingly, it was not considered by the Court of Appeals. *Pleasant v. Regence BlueShield*, -- Wn. App. --, 325 P.3d 237, 242, fn. 5 (2014) (citing RAP 10.3(a)(6)).

ruled that Regence properly denied the mechanical embolectomy claim as an investigational procedure and dismissed the remainder of the lawsuit. CP 1512-13. The trial court denied Pleasant's motion for reconsideration, CP 1647, and Pleasant appealed to Division I of the Court of Appeals.

On March 31, 2014, the Court of Appeals issued a decision affirming the trial court's orders finding that the terms of the health care plan are unambiguous, that those unambiguous terms and the undisputed record "do not support Pleasant's argument that he was entitled to coverage for nonrehabilitative expenses he incurred while an inpatient at the ARU at Swedish," and that Regence's denial of the mechanical embolectomy claim complied with Washington law and was based on reasonable grounds as a matter of law. *Pleasant v. Regence BlueShield*, -- Wn. App. --, 325 P.3d 237, 244, 247 (2014).

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Pleasant Fails to State a Basis for Review.

Pleasant seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), arguing that this case presents "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." However, he fails to establish a basis for review.

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